
UNI-rED NATIONS

ECONOIVlIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL

Thirtieth Session

OFFICIAL RECORDS

1117th meeting

Monday, 11 July 1960
at 10.55 a.m.

PALAIS DES NATIONS, GENEVA

CONTENTS

Page
Agenda items 2 and 4:

World economic situation
Economic development of under-developed countries

General debate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33

President.' Mr. C. W. A. SCHURMANN (Netherlands).

Present .'
Representatives of the following States: Afghanistan,

Brazil, Bulgaria, Chile, China, Costa Rica, Denmark,
France, Japan, Netherlands, New Zealand, Poland, Spain,
Sudan, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,
United States of America, Venezuela.

Observers for the following Member States: Argentina,
Australia, Belgium, Czechoslovakia, Ghana, Hungary,
Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Mexico, Pakistan, Portugal,
United Arab Republic.

Observers for the following non-member States:
Federal Republic of Germany, Holy See.

Representatives of the following specialized agencies:
International Labour Organisation, Food and Agricul
ture Organization of the United Nations, United Nations
Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Inter
national Civil Aviation Organization, International Bank
for Reconstruction and Development, International
Monetary Fund, World Health Organization.

The representative of the International Atomic Energy
Agency.

AGENDA ITEMS 2 AND 4

World economic situation (Ej336I, Ef3379 and Corr.1
and Add.I-4, Ef3384, Ef3389 and Corr.lfRev.l, Ef3391
and Add.l, Ef3394, Ef3396; EjECEf383 and Corr.1
and 2; EfCN.12f54I and Corr.1, EfCN.14j28 and
Corr.2)

Economic development of under-developed countries
(Ej3369, E j 3371 and Add.I, E j 3381, E j 3387
and Add.l, Ef3393 and Add. 1-3, Ef3394, Ef3395
and Add.l).

GENERAL DEBATE

1. The PRESIDENT invited the Council to consider
items 2 and 4 of the agenda jointly.

2. The two subjects were intimately connected with the
Council's task under the Charter of creating the conditions
of stability and well-being necessary for peaceful and

33

friendly relations among nations. The importance of the
subjects to the more developed as well as to the less
developed part of the world was self-evident. Both parts
of the world needed each other, an.d closer co-operation
and more intensive exchange of persons, goods and
services between the two had long been among the objec
tives of the Council. Their interdependence was aptly
reflected in the decision to discuss the two items in a single
debate, although each delegation would be entirely free
to deal with the subject matter as it deemed fit.

3. A number of distinguished representatives of minis
terial and ambassadorial rank were already present and
others of similar rank were expected to be attending later
in the session. Although in the past there had been isolated
examples of ministers taking part in the work of the
Council, there had been no attempt at an organized re
presentation of such a high level. It was therefore a matter
for satisfaction that more members of governments
represented on tne Council had come to Geneva on the
occasion of the Council's thirtieth session in order to
contribute to the most universal economic debate in the
world. Their presence should serve to promote the harmo
nization of national action for the attainment of common
ends.

4. For the purpose of the debate, it appeared essential
that heads of delegations should have time and oppor
tunity to meet and talk informally outside the meetings
of the Council; the schedule of meetings had therefore
been planned with that consideration in view.

5. The SECRETARY·GENERAL said that it was a great
pleasure for him to have the opportunity to welcome
heads of delegations to the thirtieth session of the Council.
In suggesting a ministerial meeting within the framework
of the Council 1 he had been moved by the feeling that,
at the present important juncture in the economic develop
ment of the world, the hands of the Council should be
strengthened to enable it more adequately to meet the
requirements of the times in a world that was becoming
increasingly interdependent. It had seemed to him
necessary that ministers directly engaged in the evolving
of their countries' policies should from time to time
gather together and exchange comments on vital matters,
both in private and in public, thus putting to their full
use the unique opportunities for consultation offered by
the Council as the only body in which representatives of
all the different groupings met. Consultation of that kind
had already proved its value in most of the other inter
governmental organizations, such as the various European
agencies, the Colombo Plan and the inter-American sys-

1 Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Resumed
Twenty-eighth Session, Annexes, agenda item 25, document Ej331 1.

E/SR,1117

.1'.·
..



Economic and Social Council - thirtieth session

conclus
inunedi
counci
Ihe Sur
and ev
econoJl]
dealing
called t
matter I

bias an
from gi
ment of
Iheless,

\ on the 1
ment 0:

18. Thr
over the
capitali!
althoug]
tionand
indepen
develop
activity
nature I

market
relation~

those oJ
other n
improve
serious (
the SOCii

showing
econom]
the futu

19, Tun
he said t
ments ir
develop!
during t
compare
than 1,0
producti
as coml
the year
exceedee

20. The
8.5 per
expectec
15millil
ttic pOil

the steel
, was bei

was whe
lion of (
9and 1(
western

21. The
of increi
farmers
prices. I
of work
that of

][[

unfortunately called back to New York immediately in
order to take personal action on proposals for technical
assistance to the Government of Congo in its current
transitional phase. He would simply repeat that the
United Nations occupied a key position in the fields of
work covered by the two programmes and that the
Organization should be given the means to realize their
full potentialities in response to the urgent needs that
were known to all. It was in the direct interest of all
Member governments that such a response should be
forthcoming and that use should be made of the best
tools available for the work.

12. He personally, as well as his close collaborators, was
looking forward with great hope and expectation to the
possible outcome of the informal contacts among
ministers. He hoped that the debate would constitute a
new departure in the dramatically important task facing
the world in the field of international economic policy.

13. Mr. LESECHKO (Union of Soviet Socialist Repub·
lics) stated that one of the most important tasks of the
United Nations, laid down by the Charter itself, was to
establish and develop international economic co-operation
on a sound and mutually beneficial basis. That task was
all the more important since, at that moment in history,
life itself demanded that there should be peaceful coexis
tence and co-operation in matters of trade. The creative
forces contributing to the development of economic
ties would be all the stronger for being in conformity
with the basic interests of the majority of the countries
in the world. The Council's task was to promote the
development of those forces despite the artificial obstacles
with which some countries were trying to obstruct
international economic relations.

14. At that time, when problems in economic relations
between countries were steadily growing in importance,
the economic organs of the United Nations, including
the Council, the regional economic commissions and the
specialized agencies, had a greater part to play than ever
before. It was for that reason that the Soviet Union
delegation thought it particularly important that a fresh
impetus should be given to the Council's work.

15. The fact that the People's Republic of China was not
yet represented in the Council was to be deplored. Its
absence impaired the Council's authority and adversely
affected its activities. Only a representative appointed by
the Government of the People's Republic of China could
legitimately represent China.

16. The agenda of the Council covered many important
matters. A sound solution of the problems involved
based on the constructive proposals and wishes of all the
Council's members would substantially contribute to the
expansion and strengthening of economic co-operation,
which in turn would tend to ease international tension.
The Soviet Union delegation, recognizing the need for
general development of international economic co
operation and for better trade relations between all the
countries of the world, irrespective of their social and
economic systems, would, as in the past, give its support
to realistic and constructive decisions.

17 .. The World Economic Survey, 1959 (E/3361), which
reVIewed the past ten years and endeavoured to draw

tems, and in view of the vast scope of the responsibilities
entrusted under the Charter to the Council, adoption by
it of a similar practice seemed particularly desirable.

6. He had already set out in his written statement on the
world economic situation and the economic development
of under-developed countries (E/3394) the main. problems
in the economic and social fields of that time which in
his opinion should engage the attention of the United
Nations. He naturally hoped that the Council's delibera
tions would lead to an increased awareness of the services
that the United Nations was in a strategic position to
render and establish the groundwork for constructive
action which in due course might be embodied in a bold
economic programme.
7. The Council was meeting against the background of
certain encouraging developments; a significant increase
in the awareness of the importance of speedy economic
development on a world-wide basis, especially for the
advancement of well-being in the low-income countries;
gratifying recognition of the fact that only in an expand
ing world economy could anyone country achieve its
maximum possibilities for growth; and, lastly, growing
appreciation of the importance of pre-investment work
- of a kind for which the United Nations had developed
the machinery - designed to make capital available on a
more effective basis and to open up new possibilities of
outside financing for under-developed countries.

8. The United Nations and its organs were, and rightly
so, in a continuous state of evolution under the pressure
of developing needs and the guidance derived from
experience. The Council's thirtieth session offered an
important opportunity for examining the machinery for
international co-operation designed to advance economic
and social progress. While for many obvious reasons the
organs and agencies within the United Nations family
were eminently fitted for that work, it seemed clear that
the best results would be achieved through harmonious
co-operation between such organs and agencies working
on a regional basis.
9. New efforts were being made among some of the
major economic powers to consult among themselves
and to co-ordinate their action in trade and assistance.
If those efforts were not accompanied by determination
to improve and intensify consultations within the wider
framework of the United Nations organs, they would not
achieve their maximum results and might even have
deleterious effects. That was an added reason for giving
immediate attention at the appropriate governmental
level to the question of co-ordination he had mentioned.

10. The character and scope of the problems facing the
Council were such that it was scarcely possible to aim
in the course of a few days at conclusions crystallized in
resolution form. Yet it might well be that recommenda
tions of importance in certain fields could come out of the
debate even if they could not be formulated until after
the end of the ministerial phase.
11. In his written message (E/3394) he had alluded to
the question of targets for United Nations activities
under technical assistance and the Special Fund. He
trusted the Council would address itself to that issue. His
representative would make a more specific statement on
his behalf after hearing the discussion - be himself was

34



1117th meeting -11 July 1960 3S

York immediately i~
lroposals for techni~

Congo in its currenl
l1rly r~peat that l~
JSltIOn In the fields a
ammes and that Im

means to realize thei
the urgent needs t~l
: direct interest of~»
a response should ~

be made of the IJeiI

ose collaborators, ~~

and expectation to 11
mal contacts amonl
ate would constitulel
important task facinl

ional economic poli~,

~oviet Socialist Repu\
important tasks of lli
: Charter itself, was \
economic co-operatioof

al basis. That task \11!

hat moment in hislO~

uld be peaceful coexil
s of trade. The Creal!l
:lopment of econolDl
)f being in conforni~1
:\jority of the counlril<
k was to promote 1lt

le the artificial obsla~.

:rc trying to obstrw
,!

; in economic rel8lio!
growing in imporla~

ited Nations, incluo~

.ic commissions anot
r part to play than ~I!

that the Soviet Unit
. important that aflci
Council's work.

public of China wasrn
,vas to be deplored, t
authority and advelll
'esentative appointet1l.
:Zepublic of Chinacol

:overed many importr
thc problems invol~

;als and wishes of8ll~
mtially contribute to,~'

economic co-oper8~
se in tematiooal tCnll,
ecognizing the need I

, ~

national economiC,
'elations between 8~[

. ' 11:tivc of their SOC18 •
the past, give its sup~

isions.
I', 1959 (E/3361), ww
'd cndeavoured to ~

conclusions from that survey and to define trends for the
immediate future, might be of some assistance to the
Council in its work. He would, however, point out that
the Survey contained a number of errors and inaccuracies
and even gave an incorrect interpretation of certain
economic trends and policies, particularly in the part
dealing with the socialist countries, or as the Survey
called them, the centrally planned economies. It was a
matter of great regret to the Soviet Union delegation that
bias and lack of objectivity had prevented the authors
from giving an accurate appraisal of the rapid develop
ment of productive strength in the Soviet Union. Never
theless, the Survey contained comprehensive factual data
on the basis of which the way towards a further develop
ment of sOlmd economic co-operation might be found.

18. Three main tendencies could be discerned. Firstly,
over the past ten years the economies of the industrialized
capitalist countries had expanded to a certain extent,
although interrupted at times by steep declines in produc
tion and trade. Secondly, the movement towards economic
independence and more rapid industrialization in the less
developed countries was being impeded by reduced
activity in the capitalist countries, by the monocultural
nature of their economies, by sharp fluctuations in the
market price of export products and the unfavourable
relationship between the prices of raw materials and
those of finished products, and by lack of financial and
other resources. The current trend towards economic
improvement in those countries was accompanied by
serious difficulties and imbalance in development. Thirdly,
the socialist countries with their planned economies were
showing a marked trend towards rapid and steady
economic growth that would undoubtedly continue in
the future.

19. Turning to the economic situation in his own country,
he said that the year 1959 had shown outstanding achieve
ments in all sectors of the Soviet economy and in the
development of its productive strength. Industrial output
during the year had risen by more than 11 per cent as
compared with the planned rise of 7.7 per cent. More
than 1,000 new big industrial undertakings had gone into
production. The national income had risen by 8 per cent
as compared with 1958 and was nearly double that of
the year 1953. Despite bad weather, the grain yield had
exceeded the average level of the five preceding years.

20. The planned target for industrial output in 1960 was
8,5 per cent above the 1959 level; steel production was
expected to rise by 5 million tons, crude petroleum by
15 million tons, cement by about 7 million tons and elec
tric power by 27,000 million kWh. The contention that
the steep rise in heavy industry production in the USSR
was being achieved at the expense of consumer goods
was wholly inaccurate. The annual growth in the produc
tion of consumer goods in the Soviet Union was between
9 and 10 per cent, a rate of expansion unequalled by any
western country.

21. The Soviet Union was continuing its consistent policy
of increasing workers' wages and the income of collective
farmers while at the same time reducing commodity
prices. In the period from 1953 to 1959, the real income
of workers and employees had risen by 45 per cent and
that of agricultural workers by 64 per cent. In 1959 and

early 1960 state retail prices for a number of consumer
goods had been reduced, the total reduction amounting
to more than 11,000 million roubles a year.

22. In May 1960 the Supreme Soviet had decided to
abolish taxes on the earnings of workers and employees
and to complete the change to a 7-hour or 6-hour working
day during 1960. Over 20 million workers and employees
had already changed over to the new working day, with
no corresponding fall in earnings; indeed, average wages
in various sectors of the national economy had risen by
13 to 26 per cent in 1959 as compared with 1956. A vast
programme of housing construction was being success
fully carried out; the Soviet Union led the world in the
number of housing units per thousand of the population
constructed annually. It was also well ahead in the field
of education. One in four of its citizens was engaged in
studies of one kind or another and it accou:nted for one
fourth of all the books published in the world.

23. The vast projects for economic development laid
down in the 1959-1965 plan, which was enthusiastically
supported by the Soviet people as a whole, were expected
to be fulfilled ahead of schedule.

24. In the light of those facts, it was hard to understand
the distorted picture the World Economic Survey, 1959,
gave of the nature and results of socialist economic
planning. Allegations of disproportionate growth, unsatis
factory distribution of resources, agriculture lagging
behind industry, inflationary pressure and so forth were
groundless and could only be attributed to prejudice.
The deliberate effort to speed up the growth of certain key
sectors of the national economy created no disproportion;
on the contrary, it helped to build up a balanced economy.
If a strong agricultural machinery industry had not been
established in the past, the Soviet Union would not have
been able to develop agriculture at the current rate and
the fact that prices in the USSR were dropping disproved
any charge of inflation.

25. There could be no doubt that the measures taken in
the Soviet Union in recent years to raise production had
led to a rise in the population's consumption of goods.
Moreover it was noteworthy that the amount spent in
1959 on ~ocial insurance, pensions, free education and
medical services and other benefits to the workers had
been 2.5 times that of defence expenditure,

26. At the same time the Soviet Union was steadily
broadening its economic relations with other countries ,
as a means of speeding up its own development and of
strengthening confidence and understanding among
nations. The socialist countries were building up their
economic relations on the principle of mutual help and
friendly co-operation, but that did not hamper the devel
opment of trade with capitalist States, with many of
which the Soviet Union already had long-term trade
agreements. The important feature of those agreements
was that they promoted reciprocal exchange in c~mmo

dities, thus laying the basis for a stable expanstOn of
trade for a number of years ahead. The current seven
year plan would ena?le the USSR to do~ble its volume
of foreign trade and it was ready to enter lllto tra~e ~ela
tions with any country willing to adhere to the pnnclples
of equality, reciprocal benefit and non-discrimination.



Economic and Social Council - thirtieth session36

27. The western policy directed towards the establish
ment of closed trade blocs discriminating against other
countries was a source of great concern. The principles
on which economic relations in such blocs were being
developed could not but be harmful to international
trade in general. He had in mind in particular the Euro
pean Economic Community and the European Free
Trade Area. Closed economic groupings of the kind fre
quently led to political isolation and other complications
in relations between States. For that reason the Soviet
Union had consistently opposed their establishment.

28. At the nineteenth meeting of the fifteenth session of
the Economic Commission for Europe, the Soviet Union
had declared itself ready to participate in the working
out of principles to govern a new economic organization
that was being discussed in the West. Its approach to the
various problems of economic co-operation had been
realistic and constructive and had been based on its
wish to help in developing mutually advantageous rela
tions between countries, irrespective of social and econo
mic systems. In spite of those characteristics, some of the
western countries had rejected the proposals on grounds
that could hardly be regarded as convincing. The impres
sion likely to be created was that one of the main purposes
of the new organization would be to maintain the policy
of economic segregation and competition between East
and West.

29. The Soviet Union considered that the western policy
of creating trade groups, such as the European common
market, hampered the development of trade. The most
favoured-nation principle should be the basis for all
economic relations; that principle had proved its worth
in the past and it was still conducive to the development
of trade. The Soviet Union observed that principle in all
its trade relations, and hoped that other countries, irre
spective of their adherence to one or another economic
group, would strictly abide by their treaty obligations in
that respect.

3~. The Soviet Union was ready to enter into negotiations
with the twenty states which were discussing the establish
ment of the new Organization for Economic Co-operation
and Development with a view to seeking means of co
operation. It believed that such co-operation would
constitute a definite step forward in the creation of a
broad international trade organization.

~ 1. Long-term. trade agreements, introducing stability
mto t;ade re~atlOns, were .an important means of creating
a lastmg baSIS for expansIOn of trade and economic ties.
At ~he 1069th meeting held during the twenty-eighth
sessIOn of the Council the Soviet Union delegation had
described in detail the benefits and advantages attached
to agreements of that kind and it was confident that the
Council would give such measures its full support.

32. The Council should give urgent attention to the prob
lem of. the. econ~mic. developt,Uent of the less developed
coun~r.les, mc1udmg the questIOn of creating appropriate
conditIOns for the op~imumutilization of labour through
out the yvorld.. ~amtenance of the obsolete pattern
whereby mdustnahzed western COltntries produced the
manufactured goods and the less developed countries
supplied the requisite raw materials and foodstuffs was

plainly unwarranted and was a brake on the economic
development of the less developed countries. Moreover,
whenever their own interests were affected the highly
developed countries failed to uphold the theory of com
parative costs of production by introducing high cUStOlllS
barriers against one another. The less developed countries
were entitled to protection of their developing industries
in their efforts to shift from a single-crop economy.
Obviously, therefore, radical changes were called for in
the old discriminatory pattern of international division
of labour.

33. The essential prerequisite for overcoming that prob
lem was further industrialization of the economically
backward countries and regions. The Soviet Union was
doing its utmost to help in speeding up that process by
providing specialists, equipment, scientific and techno
logical experience, and loans and credits on favourable
terms. In addition, it had increased its trade with the
under-developed countries eightfold in the period from
1953 to 1959. It was a source of satisfaction that the
countries it was assisting were gradually shifting from a
single-crop economy. It was the duty of the Council to
help all the under-developed countries in their efforts to
that end.

34. There could be no doubt that every country would
gain from a competition in trade that provided for the
comprehensive development of production for peaceful
purposes rather than the production of guns and bombs,
and that the cause of peace would thereby be served.
The Soviet Union was in favour of peaceful coexistence
and competition in the economic field as well as of active
economic co-operation among all countries: by that he
meant trade free from all artificial discriminatory ob
stacles - trade based on the principle of mutual benefit.
Unfortunately, however, the West was trying to distort
the true meaning of peaceful economic competition and
was conducting a campaign to bring the "cold war"
into the economic field under the pretext of combating
a so-called Soviet Union economic offensive. At the same
time, certain western circles were implementing economic
measures that were not consistent with peaceful inten
tions. Such an attitude could not but lead to a decline in
world economic relations.

35. There was no need for him to prove how groundless
the allegations were that the Soviet Union failed to con
form to rules and standards in its international economic
relations. The Soviet Union delegation was ready to take
part in working out the main principles of co-operation
and to adhere to them strictly. Those principles should
cover, firstly, the need to strengthen world-wide economic
relations and to expand world markets; secondly, renun
ciation of economic isolation and warfare as an instru
ment of economic policy; thirdly, the foundation of eco
nomic and trade relations on the principles of equality,
mutual benefit and non-interference in internal affairs;
fourthly, a strict adherence to the principle of the most
favoured-nation treatment and non-discrimination.

36. Provisions of that kind were in conformity with the
spirit of the United Nations Charter and would help to
normalize both economic and political relations between
States. All Soviet initiative proceeded from the doctrine
that peaceful coexistence and co-operation formed a

major.
real fo

J7, In
oelieve
problel
regret!;
eil's tw
were ri
respon:
westen
earnest

J8. In
\ tional

should
develol
and so
tension
Soviet
IQ cont

J9. Mr
the Ec(
world's
and soe
ment, I
Secreta
and enl
aminis
turn ot

~O, Thl
sustainl
develoI
as thd
lion of
alized I

process
pre-invl
gramml
The 0
agencie
thus ot
done te
abettel

41. In :
noted t
tions ar
not be c
or ullh
need fl
Limitec
it possi
not be
tions, t
the fiel
nations
interde]
Was we
was to
lutions
fhere I

\0 me
\jecth



1117th meeting - 11 July 1960 37

major preventive against war. That doctrine had acquired
real force and was becoming incontestable.

37. In regard to the disarmament problem, his delegation
believed that the economic and social aspects of that
problem came within the purview of the Council. It was
regrettable that the Soviet Union suggestion at the Coun
cil's twenty-ninth session that those aspects of the matter
were ripe for immediate study had not evoked a positive
response. That would seem to indicate that some of the
western countries had no intention of negotiating in
earnest on the disarmament problem.

38. In conclusion, he stressed that in the existing interna
tional situation the Council and its subsidiary organs
should intensify their endeavours towards expanding and
developing international co-operation in the economic
and social fields as a means of reducing international
tension and establishing confidence among States. The
Soviet Union delegation was prepared to do its utmost
ro contribute to that end.

39. Mr. DILLON (United States of America) said that
the Economic and Social Council was recognized as the
world's major forum for discussing the great economic
and social questions of the day. The United States Govern
ment, therefore, welcomed the continued efforts of the
Secretary-General to improve the Council's procedures
and enhance its effectiveness. The experiment ofconvening
a ministerial meeting on an important subject might well
turn out to be a significant contribution to that end.

40. The Council's central interest was, and should be,
sustained economic growth, especially in the newly
developing countries. Sustained economic growth entailed,
as the Soviet Union representative had stated, diversifica
tion of production. The representatives of the industri
alized countries meeting with those of countries in the
process of development had joined as partners in creating
pre-investment institutions such as the Expanded Pro
gramme of Technical Assistance and the Special Fund.
The Council received the reports of the specialized
agencies and the regional economic commissions and
thus obtained a comprehensive view of what was being
done to fulfil the aim of the United Nations Charter for
a better life in greater freedom.

41. In his statement (Ej3394) the Secretary-General had
noted the recent growth of regional, or limited, institu
tions and had raised the question whether the trend might
not be dangerous to the larger interests reflected in general,
or universal, organizations. Undoubtedly, there was a
need for arrangements of less than universal scope.
Limited groups of countries joining together often found
it possible to succeed in constructive tasks which could
not be carried out by a wider membership. Such institu
tions, however, might give rise to dangers, especially in
the field of economic relations, where the interests of
nations were becoming more thoroughly intertwined as
interdependence grew. The United States Government
was well aware of the needs and the dangers. Its policy
was to test carefully the merits of specific economic insti
tutions before deciding whether or not to endorse them.
There must be persuasive evidence that they constituted
tho most effective available method to accomplish the
objective in view, which itself must be a constructive one,

designed to promote human welfare. The means selected
for economic co-operation must be in accordance with
widely accepted multilateral principles or norms, so that
they would not damage the economic interests of coun
tries outside the groups.

42. Such institutions could also be of great value in
helping to promote the development of member countries
without detracting from the use of other channels or from
the economic development of non-member countries.
The United States was a member of the recently created
Inter-American Development Bank and participated in
economic development consultations under the Colombo
Plan. That had not entailed any neglect by the United
States of the use of other methods of co-operation in
economic development. It continued to devote substantial
resources to the development and economic stability of
countries in Asia, Africa, the Middle East and Latin
America, both directly and through its contributions to
the United Nations, the International Bank for Recon
struction and Development (Bank), the International
Monetary Fund (IMF) and the proposed International
Development Association. All those economic arrange
ments, whether or not within the United Nations family,
served the purposes of the United Nations.

43. The proposed Organization for Economic Co-opera
tion and Development would also serve the purposes of
the United Nations. It would not be a new organization,
but a reconstitution of the existing Organization for
European Economic Co-operation (OEBe). With the
achievement of convertibility in most member countries,
the time had come to emphasize the contribution which
the free industrial areas could make to world growth and
stability and for that purpose it was proposed that
Canada and the United States, which had been associated
with OEBC since the beginning, should become full
members of the Organization for Economic Co-operation
and Development. Since the constitution of that organiza
tion was still being negotiated, it was not possible to be
specific about relationships between it and other interna
tional organizations; however, it was recognized that it
should be authorized to establish such relationships
where appropriate.

44. Pending the establishment of the new organization
a group of ten capital-exporting countries had been
participating in a Development Assistance Group which
provided opportunities for frank discussion and infor
mal consultations about the best methods for mustering
the -economic resources which they could make avail
able to the less developed countries. The Group did
not engage in specific operations, which would, of course,
be carried out only by the countries directly concerned in
co-operation with the developing countries themselves.
It was not meant to replace any of the functions of the
existing channels of co-ordination and co-operation but
to complement and strengthen existing institutions. The
Group agenda for its next meeting, in October, included
a discussion of the pre-investment type of technical
assistance, in which all the important international
agencies directly concerned, including the United Nations
and the appropriate specialized agencies, would be
invited to participate. The Group was only an interim
organization and would be replaced by a committee of



Economic and Social Council - thirtieth session

i
I1
'I

38

similar membership and characteristics within the
Organization for Economic Co-operation and Develop
ment when that body had been established. When
considering the problems of economic growth in the less
developed areas much attention had been given to the
prespects for ~n adequate flow of external capit~l.
Although prediction was hazardous, it was likely that III

the coming years difficulties in obtaining external capital
for sound development would not be the significant limit
ing factor to the progress of the less developed areas,
because the future economic growth of the free industrial
countries should be great enough to enable them not
only to continue raising their own levels of living while
maintaining adequate security and financial stability, but
also to provide the outside capital, both private and
public, which the developing countries could effectively
use to supplement their own resources.

45. A much more serious limitation on growth in the
developing areas were the difficulties of what was de
scribed as "absorptive capacity". Those difficulties
included all the problems to be solved in preparing and
executing technically sound and economically feasible
development projects, improving government administra
tion, training manpower and achieving higher standards
of general health and education. The international institu
tions could be of great help, much more so in certain
fields than could the governments of the capital-exporting
countries. The United Nations with its Special Fund and
Programme for the provision of Operational, Executive
and Administrative Personnel, the Expanded Programme
of Technical Assistance and the specialized agencies all
had an important part to play. The United States Govern
ment most strongly llrged full financial support by all
Members of the United Nations for the Special Fund and
the Expanded Programme, so that the immediate target
of $100 million might be reached in 1961.

46. During 1960 fourteen new African States, numbering
more than 80 million people, would assume their rightful
place as self-governing independent nations. It was of the
greatest importance that that venture into freedom should
succeed and that the new nations of Africa should develop
stable and healthy societies. The emerging African leaders
had recognized the need for disinterested outside help in
pursuing their national goals. The initiative in seeking
such help and the responsibility for putting it to effective
use must rest with the African States themselves. The
international community, however, must be ready to
~espond. The needs were great. Outside assistance would
be required from many sources, from private foundations
and investors, from individual governments and above
all from the international agencies, which had already
begun to respond to the challenge. The Economic Com
mission for Africa had made an auspicious start.

47. The participation by the many n.ew countries of
Africa in the United Nations system would require
greater expenditure by the international agencies. The
United States Government was prepared to support the
necessary increase in the regular budgets of the United
Nations and the appropriate specialized agencies, includ
ing the United Nations programme for technical assis
tance in public administration. The Programme for the
Provision of Operational, Executive and Administrative

Personnel should no longer be regarded as experimental
but should be placed on a continuing basis and increased
in size.

48. The problem of gaining wider export markets for the
products of the less developed areas had become a vital
aspect of development and had been of deep concern to
the Commission on International Commodity Trade and
the Interim Co-ordinating Committee on International
Commodity Arrangements. More recently, the secretariat
of the Contracting Parties to the General Agreement on
Tariffs and Trade (GATT) had undertaken an intensive
study of ways to broaden the markets for a diversified
range of exports from the less developed areas, with
emphasis on the removal of discrimination, the abatement
of excessive restrictions and the reduction of excise levies.
GATT had played a key role in expanding trade on a
liberal multilateral basis. It had sometimes been suggested
that GATT should become a universal institution. There
were, however, fundamental differences between the
objectives and methods of GATT and those of countries
with centrally directed economies. The United States could
not consider as a step forward any proposal to bring
about universal membership in GATT if it entailed the
sacrifice of the principles of liberal multilateral trade. It
would be a service to no one to give the illusion of univer
sality while losing the principles upon which a truly
international trade organization must be based.

49. The less developed countries were being confronted
with an increasingly serious problem arising from the
insistence of certain States upon the adoption of bilateral
or barter methods of trade, frequently in conjunction
with offers of capital or technical assistance. Bilateral
trade and payments arrangements closely approximated
barter in their economic effects, and barter had long been
discredited as the most primitive form of commerce. For
the less developed countries, bilateral arrangements had
a potential cost far beyond the immediate economic one,
for if they cominitted their exports to those arrangements,
their freedom to buy and sell in the world markets was
automatically curtailed and the economic basis of their
national independence was thereby jeopardized. The risk
was even greater where trade was an instrument of state
policy rather than the natural result of market forces.
Governments sincerely dedicated to the expansion of
world trade would not advance bilateralism and barter
as desirable methods of conducting international com
merce.

50. The United States delegation was well aware that
international meetings, at whatever level, did not in them
selves solve deeply rooted economic problems. It was
generally admitted that there were obstacles to the har
monization of national economic policies, even among
countries with basically similar economic and political •
systems. While international institutions could appro-'
priately be used as an aid to governments in approaching
many basic economic difficulties, a realistic appraisal of i
the prospects for success must guide the selection of the
machinery to be used. All members of the Council were
agreed on one goal- that of a better life for people in
the less developed countries.

51. The World Economic Survey, 1959 (E/3361), was one
of the best surveys so far produced by the United Nations



1117th meeting - 11 July 1960 39

Secretariat. His delegation agreed with the emphasis on
the need for sound monetary and fiscal policies as a pre
requisite for economic growth in all countries and en
dorsed the view that in the less developed areas those
policies must be reinforced by adequate access to external
resources in order to help economic development to
proceed without serious inflation or unmanageable
pressures on the balance of payments.

52. The Survey suggested that government planning was
desirable in order to increase the volume of investment
and, thus, economic growth. The United States delegation
would agree that the establishment of national goals was
important to the study and formulation of economic
policy. Economic goals could illuminate the road to pro
gress so long as they left ample freedom to productive
economic forces and sufficient scope for flexible and
indirect instruments of economic policy. As the informa
tion in the Survey suggested, economic planning in the
dogmatic sense, which subjected the economy to com
prehensive and direct controls, had produced serious
distortions where it had been applied and had failed to
satisfy human wants.

53. Mr. LUNS (Netherlands) said that the present
economic situation must be viewed in the world-wide
context of competition between the countries with a
centrally planned economy and the highly developed
western countries with a mixed system of economy. The
competition existed not only in the attitude of the expo
nents of the two systems, but also in the minds of the
people in countries in the process of development. Many
of them were examining and weighing the advantages and
drawbacks of the two systems. It was important to com
pare the results of both systems as objectively as possible.
There was a recent and welcome tendency in the com
munist countries 'to regard the differences between the
systems less dogmatically. Mr. Khruschev had warned
his audience at Bucharest recently that it would be unwise
to follow too closely what highly esteemed authorities
had said in a different context several decades previously.

54. The pertinent figures were to be found in the World
Economic Survey, 1959. The Netherlands delegation
would examine them in detail in the Economic Committee.

55. One question, however, was of overriding interest.
The advocates of a centrally planned economy claimed
that their national product had increased faster than that
of countries with a mixed economy. He would not wish
to contest the fact that an increase in the national product
was an important aim, but merely to compare increases
in the national product was to oversimplify; the increase
should be seen in relation to the starting point and the
sacrifices incurred. It must be known how much con
sumption had had to be sacrificed to obtain a I per cent
rise in the national product. What was called the capitalj
Jutput ratio was a measure of the efficiency of a develop
\lent policy. The World Economic Survey almost made

such a comparison possible - the qualification" almost"
must be made, because the capital/output ratio that
might be computed for both systems would need correc
tion in respect of the price relationships between capital
and consumer goods. It would also have to be corrected
by the composition of the national product in both

groups. It was to be hoped that the Secretariat would be
able to carry its research somewhat further.

56. There seemed to be every reason to examine still
other possibilities of comparison. The documents on the
evaluation of long-term economic projections (Ej3379 and
Addenda) would give valuable assistance in that respect.
Leaving aside the great difference in the evaluation of the
po5'ition of the individual human being, the differences
between the economic systems of the two grollPS were
not so absolute as was commonly taken for granted. The
system in the western countries could no longer be de
scribed as capitalism, a nineteenth-century term which had
become obsolete. Many elements alien to capitalism had
been introduced, such as solidarity, social responsibility
and common interest. There were considerable public and
co-operative sectors and the distribution of incomes
after taxation was very different from what it had bcen
in the past. The co-operation between trade unions and
employers had also introduced radical changes. The pro
cess was not yet concluded. Thus the economic system
prevalent in the western countries might be termed
" mixed ".

57. Another indication that the differences between the
two systems were not quite so fundamental as was usually
supposed appeared clearly from a study of the part played
by planning in both groups. In the centrally planned
economies, too, there were large sectors, such as con
sumption and agriculture, where the task of separate
units was not always prescribed in detail; the consumer
enjoyed a certain amount of freedom in spending his
income, and agriculture depended not only on changes
in the weather but also on prospective prices. In those
sectors rigid systems and direct orders were less effective
than indirect methods.

58. The United States reply to the secretariat question
naire on long-term economic projections (E/3379/Add.l)
showed to what a great extenta c,ountry like the United
States made use of planning metho,ds. The input-output
analysis had been developed mainly in the United States,
but was now taken very seriously in the communist
countries. The United States reply to the questionnaire
gave the impression that there was a wide distinction
between projections, forecasts and plans. The definition
given of an economic projection was surely, however, the
only tenable definition of an economic forecast: both
were estimates of future development to be expected
within a fairly wide margin of uncertainly when certain
structural and functional changes were anticipated. In
functional changes human action, measures taken by men,
was a factor. It was the content of those measures that
decided the nature of the estimates. A plan indicated the
most desirable development and presupposed that the
measures necessary to achieve that development would
be taken. An estimate based upon that presupposition
was a forecast also, although of a particular type. It
went without saying that in the United States, too, pro
jections were used when there was any intention of plan
ning something. The United States quite rightly applied as
many methods of planning as the communist countries
or the European countries, but according to the United
States reply the methods were used only for sector plan
ning and not for the formulation and harmonization of



Economic and Social Council - thirtieth session40

general policies. Many countries ha~, h?wever, found it
useful to apply methods for harmOnIZatIOn on a general
scale.
59. He was not, of course, referring to political considera
tions. In politics the fU1l;damental.differenc.es be~ween t~e
West and the commUnIst countnes remamed llTeconCI
lable since the former could never accept a system that
did ~ot recognize the value of the individ;tal a~ irrepl~ce
able and unique. From the purely economIC pomt of VIew,
however, the differences were in some respects merely a
question of degree; it was those differences that were. of
concern to the Council. For the less developed countrIes,
the question did not arise whether everything must be
produced by the State or by private enterpr.ise; the ques
tion was what should be the size of the publIc and prIvate
sector and what specific measures should be taken to
influence production and consumption. in ~he ~ost

effective way. That opened up a field of dIscussIOn lIkely
to be profitable to all.
60. The present international community suffered from
a lack of co-ordinated economic policy. The differences
between the centrally planned and the mixed economies
should not be overemphasized. The centrally planned
States were not the only ones to blame for the lack of
co-ordination. The western countries also had shown a
lack of interest; that was apparent from the very meagre
response to similar suggestions made by the Ne.therlan~s

delegation at previous sessions of the CounCIl and m
particular at the 1069th meeting held during the twent~

eighth session. The communist States had argued .untll
recently that planning was solely a matter for natIOnal
governments. Although latterly they had displayed some
interest in regional planning, and especially in regional
trade arrangements, they still took almost no part in the
co-ordination of world-wide economic policy.
61. There were, however, a number of joint interests in
elaborating a purely international economic policy, such
as the need to develop international trade, the need for
accelerated development of the less developed countries
and the proper spread of investment over the various
branches of economic activity.
62. As a minimum, an international economic policy
might consist of a harmonization of national measures
for the attainment of those objects, but the basic ingre
dient should be a clear picture of the future economic
situation to be expected in various parts of the world.
With that in view, the Netherlands delegation had pro
posed that long-term economic projections should be
attempted, covering separate economic phenomena related
to each other in some larger context. The Secretariat
might be invited to make a set of such projections for the
period 1960-1965 and submit it to the Council's thirty
second session. The sketch of future economic develop
ment thus obtained would enable the Council to frame
conditions for a balanced growth of the world economy,
to fix targets for future economic development and to
direct the course of economic policy.

63. In such a concept of projections and targets it was
necessary to establish the machinery and an idea of what
should be the content of the policy. Naturally, the prere
quisite was a common will to elaborate an international
economic policy. With regard to the machinery, the

Secretary-General in his statement on the economic
development of under-developed cou~tri~s (Ej339~) had
noted that the function of consultatIOn mherent m the
Council never as yet fully developed, should be high
lighted ~nd had added that through a. rat~onallJ: organized
process of consultations the Orgamzatlon might, more
than any other body, play an important role both in the
harmonization of national policies and the formulation
of international objectives. That statement echoed the
pleas made by the Netherlands delegation in the Economic
and Social Council during the past few years. The
Secretary-General might well elaborate upon that state
ment and describe in detail what he meant by a "ration
ally organized process of consultations ": The Council
was particularly fitted for such consultatIOns, but they
could be successful only if all countries, especially the
larger powers, accepted the Council as a ~orum for such
consultations and if its membership were lllcreased from
eighteen to twenty-four. The C~uncil'~ value as a tool for
framing international economIC polIcy would thus be
enhanced.
64. The international economic policy should obviously
consist of international consultations on national policies
and proposals. The projections would probably indicate
how vital an increased volume of investments would be
to the acceleration of prosperity. Although there was not
yet sufficient information available to give a detailed
picture of economic development, it was clear that
accelerated economic growth was needed to overcome
deficiencies in various parts of the world. The most
effective means would be to devote a greater share of the
national product to investment, which should be large
enough to cause a real acceleration in economic growth
but not so large as to cause damaging repercussions such
as inflation or disturbances in balances of payments.
The governments of most of the under-developed coun·
tries were well aware of their responsibility in that respect;
the World Economic Survey, 1959 (Ej336l), showed that
in many of those countries the share of the national pro
duct devoted to investment had risen sharply in the past
ten years. That achievement was all the more remarkable
when it was borne in mind that there were limited possi
bilities for savings in the less developed countries. Some
further increase might be achieved by tapping available
idle resources, particularly of manpower. Certain indus
trial countries, too, might wish to increase their internal
investment quota, for many of them needed to raise their
level of living. Furthermore, the resulting increase in the
production level of industry would stimulate demands
for raw materials, to the benefit of the less developed
countries. The greater prosperity of the more highly
developed countries would enable them to increase
assistance to the under-developed countries. His delega
tion, therefore, approved the long-term investment
policies set out in the World Economic Survey, 1959.
They might be co-ordinated by international consulta
tions.

65. The world-wide problem of insufficient economic
development seemed to be appreciated in a new spirit.
Humanity had been quick to realize that there were
hundreds of millions of people living below a reasonable
level. Regional assistance was being increased. The
European Economic Community had a fund of nearly

1.'·.··

I
(



1117th meeting -11 July 1960

c
d
e
I·

d
'e
le
,n
le
ic
le
e·
n·
:il

i!y
ies
lie
be
lot
led
lal
me
OSl

the
rge
~1h

Ich
liS.
llll

~ct;

hat .
11'0·

"ISl
lble
Issi·
lme
lble
ius·
mal
heir
the

md!
ped
~hlJ
~ase

ega·
!lent
959.,
Ilta·

)mic
>irit
wer!
lab!!
Th;
~arI!

$600 million for countries associated with its members,
and consultations were taking place about forms of
assistance not included in the Rome Treaty. The OEEC
had done a good deal in the way of assistance, but the
proposed Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development would do a great deal more. The Develop
ment Assistance Group had undertaken a detailed study
of the possibility of obtaining more means. He could not
accept the Soviet Union representative's contention that
the European Economic Community was hampering
world trade. Indeed, the easing of trade barriers within
the Community had been extended to countries outside
it and the growth of exchanges between Community
countries had not impeded international trade. In GATT
the problem of the low level of prosperity in some parts
of the world had been discussed. The resources of the
IMF and the Bank had been doubled. The proposed
International Development Association would have re
sources of $1,000 million to spend in loans on easy terms
over the next five years. The Special Fund was getting
into its stride and it was to be hoped that at the forth
coming Pledging Conference the Expanded Programme
of Technical Assistance and the Special Fund would
obtain the $100 million they needed.
66. There was a growing awareness that assistance to
under-developed countries should not be given merely
through grants and loans but rather by means of trade
policies.
67. The Netherlands delegation had often stressed in the
Council the need for assistance, and its policy remained
unchanged. There were, however, a few urgent and rele
vant new considerations. Since all the bodies concerned
had placed the question of assistance to the under
developed countries on their agenda, close co-operation
was essential. It would be undesirable to let new organiza
tions spring up with machinery of their own. The supply
of expert knowledge was limited. Any new organizations

Printed in Switzerland

•

41

and methods of assistance should be linked to the existing
organizations, and assistance should preferably be given
on a multilateral basis. The Secretary-General in his
statement (E/3394) had pointed out that there was nothing
to prevent the United Nations from performing executive
functions or to preclude it from acting as an intermediary
in specific projects. The Lower Mekong River Basin
project (E/3340) was an excellent example of a harmonious
blending of bilateral and multilateral assistance. The
United Nations was thus entering a new era of operational
activity; flexibility should be the hall-mark of that new
era.
68. Vigorous measures should be taken to assist the
newly independent countries, most of which were in
Africa. His delegation endorsed the Secretary-General's
proposals on that subject. Although the social and
financial consequences entailed in the emergence of so
many new countries couJd not yet be gauged, the inter
national community should not stand idly by until the
problems became more clearly defined; the Secretary
General had rightly stated that there were great possibi
lities for immediate action. The new countries themselves
must decide in due course on the extent and nature of
assistance they would need.
69. Assistance to the less developed countries should be
based on an equality of partners, the countries concerned
participating fully at all stages.
70. The world would be a very different place five years
thence. It was to be hoped that the social and economic
role of the United Nations would become a living reality
within measurable time. The proposed International
Development Association and the Special Fund would
serve to quicken the awareness of the new era. The
question now was no longer whether assistance should
be given, but rather, to what extent and in what way.

The meeting rose at 12.55 p.m.

17138-August 1960-1,300

I
j·l~..'!·.·!~l

11
li

IJ,
,


